
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Chief Executive 

Phil Drury 
MCIAT, ACIOB 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

30 October 2019 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE STANDARDS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE STANDARDS SUB COMMITTEE 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Standards Sub Committee on 
Thursday, 7th November, 2019 at 6.00 pm 

in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston 

 
PHIL DRURY 
Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Jonathan Noble 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton 
 Councillors George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, Stephen Woodliffe, 

Parish Councillor Chris Cropley and Parish Clerk Belinda Buttery 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

PART I – PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

B   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 1 August 2019. 
 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

Public Document Pack



 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   REVIEW OF THE MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 7 - 34) 
 

 (A report by the Monitoring Officer, Michelle Sacks)  
 

 
 

 
Notes: 
 

The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Tel. no: 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk  
 

Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Tel. no: 01205 
314224  e-mail lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk as soon as possible. 
 

Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 

 

Emergency Procedures 
 

In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building 
via the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point 

located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 



STANDARDS SUB COMMITTEE 
 

1 August 2019 

Present: Councillors Tom Ashton, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, Jonathan Noble and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Deputy Chief Executive (Monitoring Officer) and Democratic Services Manager 
 
1   TO APPOINT A CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN 

 
It was agreed that Councillor Jonathan Noble be appointed as Chairman of the Sub 
Committee and Councillor Tom Ashton as the Vice-Chairman. 
 
2   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
No apologies for absence were received.  
 
3   DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

 
No declarations of interest were made.  
 
4   REVIEW OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL STANDARDS BY THE 

COMMITTEE ON STANDARDS IN PUBLIC LIFE 
 

The Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer introduced a report advising on the 
outcome of the review on Local Government Ethical Standards by the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life. 
 
The report stated that the current Local Government Ethical Standards regime had been 
introduced under the Localism Act 2011 and been in operation since June 2012. 
 
In January 2018 the Committee for Standards in Public Life (CSPL) commenced a 
review of the ethical standards regime and, in particular, the effectiveness of sanctions 
available in relation to breaches of the Member Code of Conduct.  
 
The terms of reference for the review were to examine the structures, processes and 
practices in local government in England for: 
 

 Maintaining codes of conduct for local councillors 

 Investigating alleged breaches fairly and with due process 

 Enforcing codes and imposing sanctions for misconduct 

 Declaring interests and managing conflicts of interest; and 

 Whistleblowing 
 
And to:  

 

 Assess whether the existing structures, processes and practices are 
conducive to high standards of conduct in local government 

 Make any recommendations for how they can be improved 

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Standards Sub Committee 
1 August 2019 
 

 Note any evidence of intimidation of councillors, and make 
recommendations for any measures that could be put in place to prevent 
and address such intimidation. 

 
The Review identified some specific areas of concern relating to bullying and 
harassment and other disruptive behaviour by a minority of councillors, and a number of 
risks in respect of the current rules around conflicts of interest, gifts and hospitality and 
the complexity of local government decision making. 
 
However, the review continued to support the current framework whereby local 
authorities had responsibility for ethical standards and concluded there was no reason to 
reintroduce centralisation. 
 
The CSPL had made 26 recommendations and identified 15 recommendations of best 
practice to improve ethical standards in local government.   A copy of the CSPL review 
including recommendations was appended to the report.  
 
There were five key recommendations which would impact on Councillors:- 
 

 Updating the model code of conduct and extending it to Parish Councils; 

 Presumption of official capacity; 

 Extending the list of registerable interests; 

 A new ‘objective’ test for when councillors must withdraw or not vote; 

 Strengthening the sanctions system. 
 
Most of the recommendations would require primary legislation and therefore any 
changes would be subject to Parliamentary timetabling.  CSPL intended to monitor the 
implementation of its recommendations.  
 
The review report also set out a list of fifteen best practice recommendations for local 
authorities which were considered a benchmark of good ethical practice and which all 
local authorities should implement.  
 
A draft action plan to deliver the best practice recommendations was appended to the 
report.   It was noted that some of the recommendations and best practice points were 
already in operation within Boston and any proposed changes to the Code of Conduct 
would need to be approved by full Council. 
 
A review of the current Code of Conduct had been undertaken by a Cross Party Working 
Group between June and November 2018 when it had been agreed to defer until a 
Standards Committee had been established and task that body with the review.  A copy 
of the proposed Code of Conduct was appended to the report.  
 
The Sub-Committee were generally supportive of the recommendations and good 
practice set out in the report, particularly welcoming the review of available sanctions 
when breaches of the code occurred.  
 
However, views were expressed: 
 

 If the code of conduct was extended too much it would lose its impact; 

Page 2



Standards Sub Committee 
1 August 2019 

 

 Potential for endless vexatious and politically motivated complaints; 

 Available timescales in respect of sanctions and length of time for the Local 
Ombudsman Complaints process to be concluded; 

 The public would be punished by not having an active Councillor if suspended 
under the sanctions regime; 

 Contentious or difficult investigations could be investigated by a neighbouring 
authority; 

 The ‘recall’ option should be available to local government as it was for 
Parliament to ensure MPs and Councillors were both answerable to the 
electorate. 

 
The Monitoring Officer responded that Government would undertake further consultation 
on the recommendations which required primary legislation and the Sub Committee 
would be welcome to feed into that process.   However, it was expected that 
Government would audit Councils on the implementation of the best practice points from 
next year.   Therefore, it was important that the Code of Conduct was revised to make it 
more robust, to moderate and mitigate bad behaviour and to specifically reference 
bullying and harassment which it failed to do currently.  
 
Members commented that further detailed discussion on the proposed revisions to the 
code of conduct were required before a recommendation could be made to full Council.  
It was proposed to accept the Action Plan except points 1 and 2 and that the review be 
considered at the next meeting of the sub-committee.  
 
During debate Members requested the Monitoring Officer to arrange a Member Briefing 
on the responsible use of social media, and it was suggested that a consultation 
exercise on the amendments to the code could be combined with the briefing. 
 
It was agreed  
 
1. That the 26 recommendations made by the Review of Local Government 

Ethical Standards by the Committee on Standards in Public Life and the 15 
best practice points be noted and the Sub Committee looked forward to 
participating in further consultation on the recommendations requiring 
primary legislation. 

 
2. To note that the Council already practiced some of the recommendations 

which did not require legislative changes as a matter of good practice.  
 
3. That the Action Plan to deliver the 15 best practice recommendations be 

agreed, subject to action points 1 and 2 being referred to the next meeting 
of the Sub Committee further consideration. 

 
4. That the proposed Code of Conduct as set out in appendix 3 of the report, 

be considered at the next meeting of the Sub Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



Standards Sub Committee 
1 August 2019 
 

5   RECRUITMENT AND REMUNERATION OF THE INDEPENDENT PERSON 
 

The Monitoring Officer introduced a report providing an update on the recruitment 
process for Independent Persons and seeking consideration of whether the position 
should be eligible to receive remuneration.  
 
The report stated that in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, arrangements must be 
put in place for the appointment by the Council of at least one Independent Person 
whose views must be sought and taken into account by the Council before a decision 
was made on an allegation against an elected member that had been referred for 
investigation.  
 
Currently, the Council had one Independent Person appointed and during the previous 
eighteen months had conducted recruitment campaigns to increase the pool of available 
persons, but no applications had been forthcoming.  
 
It was proposed to commence a further recruitment exercise and the Sub-Committee 
was asked to consider whether the existing arrangement of the position only being 
eligible to receive travelling and subsistence expenses was appropriate. 
 
An option would be to request the Independent Remuneration Panel to make a 
recommendation on an appropriate level of remuneration for the role of Independent 
Person.  It was noted that the equivalent role of Lay Member of the Audit and 
Governance Committee received an allowance of £408 per annum. 
 
Examples of allowances paid to Independent Persons by other authorities was set out in 
the report for information.  
 
Members supported the proposal to introduce an allowance for the Independent Person, 
recognising that their workload and time commitment may increase if the 
recommendations of the Local Government Ethical Standards report were implemented.  
 
It was agreed  
 
1. That the update on the recruitment process for Independent Persons be 

noted. 
 
2. That the Independent Remuneration Panel be requested to consider an 

appropriate level of remuneration for the position of Independent Person, to 
recognise the time commitment and responsibility attached to the role.  

 
 
6   UPDATE FROM THE STANDARDS CONFERENCE 

 
The Monitoring Officer gave a verbal report following her attendance at the recent 
Monitoring Officer’s Conference.  Topics discussed included: 
 
Cases of breaches of codes of conduct and links to legislation, examples would be 
submitted to future meetings of the sub-committee to consider if the findings would have 
affected the Boston code; 
 

Page 4



Standards Sub Committee 
1 August 2019 

 

Acknowledging it was the responsibility of everyone to challenge and report 
inappropriate behaviour, not just the Monitoring Officer;  
 
Local Government Ombudsman update – questioning if larger town and parish councils 
should be subject to the LGO process in respect of service requests.  Concern this 
would have the potential to morph into conduct complaints if not dealt with effectively.  
 
The Monitoring Officer also reported that following a recent meeting of an Assessment 
Panel a request had been made for equalities training to be provided to all Members.  It 
was important that members of the Standards Sub-Committee, particularly the 
Chairman, were seen as advocates of standards and equalities, therefore it was agreed 
that the Chairman and Monitoring Officer would meet to plan the training and how best 
to engage with Members.  
 
7   NEXT MEETING 

 
The next meeting of the Standards Sub Committee was scheduled for Thursday 7 
November.  At the request of the Sub Committee the start time for future meetings will 
be 6 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 4.00 pm 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: STANDARDS SUB-COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7 NOVEMBER 2019 

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF THE MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: MONITORING OFFICER 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 
 
To consider proposed revisions to the Member Code of Conduct to ensure its robustness 
and promotes high standards of behaviour expected of Members of the Council.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the revised Member Code of Conduct, as set out in Appendix 1, be referred to full 
Council for adoption.  
 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Monitoring Officer has an obligation to monitor and keep the operation of 
the Constitution under review. The Member Code of Conduct and associated documents 
are included in the Council’s Constitution. Contributing to the promotion and maintenance 
of high standards of conduct through provision of support to the Audit and Governance 
Committee and Standards Sub Committee is a key function of the Monitoring Officer in 
providing updated Codes and Protocols from time to time. 
 
The Code and associated documents have been tested externally and have been found 
to lack clarity on some aspects of meaning relating to acceptable behaviour. This has 
presented an opportunity to review and update to ensure confidence in the conduct of 
Members is not reduced but enhanced. 
 
Feedback from the recent Peer Review stated that ‘Frontline Councillors should be 
supported not only in their community leadership positions but also to act as 
ambassadors for the authority and wider borough.  Currently Councillors’ role in 
portraying a positive image of the Council and place does not appear to be fully 
understood (e.g. social media behaviour).  The Member Code of Conduct is an important 
tool in promoting this understanding.  Agreeing and adopting a refreshed Member Code 
of Conduct should be progressed as a matter of priority.’ 
 
 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Not to review the Code of Conduct. 
 

 
REPORT 
 
1.1 The Monitoring Officer has an obligation to monitor and keep the operation of 

the Constitution under review. The Member Code of Conduct is included in 
the Council’s Constitution. 

 
1.2  Under Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council is required to adopt a Code 

of Conduct to promote and maintain high standards of behaviour by its members and 
co-opted members whenever they are acting in their capacity as a member of the 
authority, or when they claim to act or give the impression of acting as 
representatives of the authority.  

 
1.3 The current Code was last revised in 2013.  The Council must ensure that its Code, 

when viewed as a whole, is consistent with the Seven Principles of Public Life. 
Following external examination of its effectiveness, it is considered appropriate to 
now look again at the provisions contained within the code to ensure it is fit for 
purpose and robust and readily upholds these Seven Principles. 

 

 Selflessness 

 Integrity 

 Objectivity 

 Accountability 

 Openness 

 Honesty  

 Leadership 
 
1.4 The current Code of Conduct includes these provisions, but requires further 

explanation as to what conduct is acceptable and that which is not to provide clarity 
for the public, Members and employees. 

 
1.5 Furthermore, the proposed revisions expand on the requirements for Members to 

treat others with respect, equality and diversity including the Public Sector Equality 
Duty, data protection and provide clarification of the circumstances when the Code 
applies to member’s behaviour.  

 
1.6  This also created an opportunity of reviewing the Gifts and Hospitality thresholds and 

bring these into line with the same thresholds applicable to employees of the 
Council. This provides the public with confidence that any person who is involved 
with a decision made by the Council has not received any gift or hospitality of such a 
value that a perception may arise of bias. 

 
1.7 A review of the current Code of Conduct was considered by the Audit and 

Governance Committee on 23 April 2018 and referred to full Council for approval. 
However, concerns were raised by Members regarding the content of the proposed 
code and it was agreed to set up a Cross Party Working Group to consider the 
proposed changes in detail, before being considered by full Council.  

 

Page 8



1.8 The Working Group met on 4 occasions between June and November 2018 and 
ultimately agreed to defer a review of the Code of Conduct until a Standards 
Committee had been established and task that Committee with the review.  

 
1.9 Members will recall that at the last meeting of the Standards Sub Committee held on 

1 August 2019 consideration was given to the Review of Local Government Ethical 
Standards by the Committee on Standards in Public Life, which recommended best 
practice in respect of Member Codes of Conduct.  

 
1.10 The Standards Sub Committee agreed to defer consideration of the revised Code to 

this meeting and take into account action points 1 and 2 from the Best Practice 
Recommendations from the Ethical Standards Review, namely:-  

 
 Action Point 1 - Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and 

harassment in codes of conduct.  These should include a definition of bullying and 
harassment, supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered 
by such a definition. 

 
 Action Point 2 – Councils should include provisions in their code requiring councillors 

to comply with any formal standards investigation, and prohibiting trivial or malicious 
allegations by councillors. 

  
These elements have been added to the prosed revised code and shown in red text. 

 
1.11 The recent Peer Review feedback contained recommendations in respect of 

organisational leadership and governance, specifically referencing the need to adopt 
a refreshed Member Code of Conduct as a matter of priority.  The Peer Review 
Feedback report is attached at Appendix 2 and the reference is set out on page 8 of 
that report. 

 
1.12 Therefore, the Standards Sub Committee is now asked to consider the proposed 

Code of Conduct, attached at Appendix 1 (revisions are highlighted).   
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications arising directly of the report.  
 

 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council has a duty under s.27 of the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by its Members and to adopt a Code of conduct that is consistent 
with the Nolan Principles.   
 
There are no equality implications arising out of the report.  
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 

 

Page 9



CONSULTATION 
 
None 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Proposed revisions to the Code of Conduct 
 

APPENDIX 2 Peer Review Feedback Report 
 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report. 
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee – 23 April 2018 

Code of Conduct Working Group -19 June 2018; 26 July 2018; 6 September 2018 and 1 

November 2018 

Standards Sub Committee – 1 August 2019  

 

 
 

Page 10



 

PART 5 (SECTION A) 
 

BOSTON MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

Adopted by the Council on 25th July 2012 
(Revised Code adopted by Council on 10th June 2013) 

 
Boston Borough Council (the authority) has adopted this Code of Conduct pursuant to 
Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high standards of behaviour 
by its members and co-opted members whenever they are acting in their capacity as a 
member of the authority, or when they claim to act, or give the impression of acting as a 
representative of the authority.  
 
In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity all Councillors 
must be committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent with the following principles 
to achieve best value for our residents and maintain public confidence in this authority.  
 
SELFLESSNESS  
 
Members must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage 
or disadvantage on any person. Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest.   

 
HONESTY AND INTEGRITY 
 
Members must not place themselves in situations where their honesty and integrity may be 
questioned, must not behave improperly and must on all occasions avoid the appearance of 
such behaviour.   
 
Members Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
outside individuals or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their 
work.  They must not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or material benefits for 
themselves, their family or their friends.  They must declare and resolve any interests and 
relationships. 

 
OBJECTIVITY  
 
Members must make Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and 
on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias, including when making 
appointments, awarding contracts,  recommending individuals for rewards or benefits and 
pursuing matters on behalf of their constituents. 

 
ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
Members must be Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their actions and 
decisions and actions to the public and the manner in which they carry out their 
responsibilities.  They must co-operate fully and honestly with any scrutiny appropriate to their 
particular office. submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  
 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 11



 

OPENNESS  
 
Members Holders of public office must act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. They should be as open as possible about their actions and those of their authority 
and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions. Information should not be withheld 
from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.  
 
LEADERSHIP  
 
Members Holders of public office must exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.  They 
must actively promote and robustly support the principles of leadership, be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs and act in a way that secures or preserves public 
confidence. 
 
PERSONAL JUDGEMENT   
 
Members may take account of the views of others, including their political groups, but must 
reach their own conclusions on the issues before them and act in accordance with those 
conclusions. 

 
COURTESY FOR OTHERS   
 
Members must promote equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person and by 
treating people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, sex, sexual orientation, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships, pregnancy and maternity.   
 
Members must observe the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty as set out in 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 and not do anything which may cause the Council to 
breach UK equalities legislation.   
 
Members should respect the impartiality and integrity of the Council’s Officers and 
understand that as an employer, the Council owes a duty of care to its employees. This 
includes ensuring all employees of the Council are treated with respect whilst they 
undertake their duties. 
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that political debate may at times be robust and forthright, and 
that the right of freedom of expression is essential to vibrant political discourse, members 
should ensure that their comments and behaviour do not overstep the line of acceptability.   
 
Members must not behave towards others in a way which is violent, threatening, malicious 
or bullying.   
 
Members should not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person (including employees) 
who is, or is likely to be:-  
 

(i) a complainant 
(ii) a witness, or 
(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings 

 

Page 12



 

in relation to an allegation that a Member has failed to comply with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct, do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those 
who work for, or on behalf of, the Council. 
 
Bullying and Harassment  
 
Everyone has the right to be treated with dignity and respect and to work in an environment 
which is free from harassment, bullying, discrimination and victimisation. 
 
Harassment, bullying, discrimination and victimisation (either directly or indirectly) are 
unacceptable and should not be tolerated.  It is important to recognise the wider impact 
such behaviour can have on any individual experiencing it, as well as on the wider 
organisation in terms of morale and operational effectiveness.  
 
Members should be aware of the role that officers play and ensure they are not 
compromising this by behaving in a manner that could result in employees of the Council 
feeling threatened or intimidated, which could prevent them from undertaking their duties 
properly and appropriately.  Members must not bring any undue influence to bear on an 
officer to take a certain course of action, particularly if it is contrary to the law or the 
Council’s policies and procedures.  
 
Where Members are witness to incidents of bullying or harassment they have a 
responsibility to speak out.  Members should challenge inappropriate behaviour at is 
happens and consider making a complaint.  
 
Harassment  
 
Harassment is any unwelcome behaviour or conduct which has no legitimate workplace 
purpose and which makes someone feel offended, humiliated, intimidated, frightened 
and/or uncomfortable.  Harassment can be experienced directly or indirectly (such as being 
in a room while unacceptable conduct is being displayed and being affected by it), and can 
occur as an isolated incident or as a course of persistent behaviour.  
 
Harassment can occur through verbal or written communications (including ones made on-
line).  The following list provides some examples, but it is by no means exhaustive: 
 

 Unwelcome physical contact such as touching or invading ‘personal space’; 
 

 Inappropriate remarks or questioning such as comments about someone’s 
appearance, lewd comments and offensive jokes (such as ones of a racial, sexual or 
sectarian nature;  

 

 Intrusive questioning, inlcduing the persistent discussion of a person’s sexual 
practices, misogynistic behaviour, sexual orientation or religious beliefs (either 
directly or with others); and  

 

 Sending unwelcome e-mails, messages or notes; circulating or displaying explicit or 
inappropriate images. 

 
 
 

Page 13



 

Bullying  
 
Bullying is inappropriate and unwelcome behaviour which is offensive and intimidating, and 
which makes an individual or group feel undermined, humiliated or insulted.   
 
Bullying usually arises as a result of an individual misusing their power (usually derived 
from status or some other position of strength) and can occur through all means of 
communication.  Bullying tends to be a pattern of behaviour or can be a singular serious 
incident that becomes objectionable or intimidating.  The examples in the following list are, 
by no means, exhaustive: 
 

 Unwelcome physical, verbal or non-verbal conduct; 

 Intimidatory behaviour including verbal abuse or the making of threats; 

 Making someone’s working life difficult; 

 Disparaging, ridiculing or mocking comments and remarks; 

 Physical violence; and 

 Deliberately excluding an individual from conversations, work or social activities, in 
which they have a right or legitimate expectation to participate.  

 
Disrepute 
 
A Member must not act in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing their 
office or the Council into disrepute. This may include; 
 

 Seeking to put private interests above the public interest 
 

 Defying important and well established rules of the Council for personal gain 
 

 Engaging in conduct which directly and significantly undermines the Council’s 
reputation as a good employer or responsible service provider 
 

 Reducing the public’s confidence in that Member being able to fulfil the role of 
elected representative 
 

 Adversely affecting the reputations of Members generally in being able to fulfil their 
roles 

 
This is not an exhaustive list of what constitute disrepute. 

 
DUTY TO UPHOLD THE LAW  
 
Members must uphold the law and, on all occasions, act in accordance with the trust that 
the public is entitled to place in them. 
 
STEWARDSHIP  
 
Members must do whatever they are able to do to ensure that their authorities use their 
resources prudently and in accordance with the law.   When using or authorising the use by 
others of Council resources, Members must ensure that they are used only for legitimate 
council purposes and not for any other purpose (including political party purposes or 
personal advantage).   

Page 14



 

Members must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code on Publicity under the 
Local Government Act 1986.  
 
Additional Requirements 
 
In addition to compliance with the Member Code of Conduct, Members must comply with 
policies supporting this Code such as:- 
 

 Member and Employee Protocol 
 

 Planning Code of Good Practice  
 

 Member Data Protection Protocol 
 

 Whistleblowing Policy 
 

 Grievance Policy 
 
Any action or behaviour which constituted a breach of any of the supporting policies would 
consequently be a breach of the Member Code of Conduct.  
 
Members are required to comply with any formal standards investigation arising from 
allegations of breaches of the Member Code of Conduct or associated Codes and 
Protocols.  
 
Confidential Information  
 
Members will on occasions be privy to confidential and/or sensitive information. This may 
include; 
 

 personal information about someone which if disclosed could cause damage or 
distress to the individual 
 

 commercially sensitive information which, if disclosed, may harm the commercial 
interests of the Council or another person or organisation leading to loss or 
damages. 

 
This information must not be revealed without proper authority.  
 
Data Protection  
 
Members must observe the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and any other relevant legislation.  
 
Members must comply with the Member Data Protection Protocol as referred above. 
 
 

Page 15



 

Application of the Code 
 
This Code of Conduct applies to you whenever you are acting, claim to act or give the 
impression you are acting in your capacity as a Member of the authority, including:-  
 

 At formal meetings of the authority 

 When acting as a representative of the authority  

 In taking any decision as a Cabinet Member or Ward Councillor 

 In discharging your functions as a Ward Councillor 

 When corresponding with the authority other than in a private capacity. 
 
This is not an exhaustive list of when Members may be acting, claiming to act or giving the 
impression of acting in a capacity as a Member of this Council. 
 
When you act as a representative of the Council:-  
 

(a)  on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that authority, comply 
with the other authority’s code of conduct; or 

 
(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with this 

Council’s Code of Conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other 
lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject.  

 
Meeting  
 
In this Code ‘Meeting’ means any meeting organised by or on behalf of the authority, 
including:- 
 

 Any meeting of the Council, or a Committee or Sub-Committee of Council 

 Any meeting of the Cabinet and any Committee of the Cabinet 

 At any briefing by Officers; and 

 At any site visit to do with the business of the authority. 
 
 
Accessing Services in a Personal Capacity 
 
It is not unusual for Members to access services of the Council in their personal capacity. 
Examples include, but are not limited to; 
 

 Applying for a licence for any function regulated by the Council 

 Lodging a planning application 

 Requesting a bulky goods collection 

 Requesting an extension of time to pay a debt due to the Council 

 Making a complaint in relation to a personal matter 
 
Noting the requirement for Members not to use their position for personal gain, it is 
important that when accessing such services, there is not a blurring of boundaries which the 
public and employees of the Council may consider to be a Member receiving more 
advantageous treatment by virtue of they being a Member of the Council as opposed to an 
ordinary member of the public. 

Page 16



 

 
There are many reasons why Members have access to Council Officers that are not 
available to ordinary members of the Public, including but not limited to; 
 

 Members often have a legitimate reason to be in areas of the Council that are not 
open to the public and have direct access to Council Officers that would not be 
available to the public without a prior appointment.  

 

 Members have direct access to Council Officers by telephone and email, such as 
when they are discharging ward constituent duties and/or functions arising from 
their responsibilities as members of Committees. 

 
Members must have regard to the following; 
 

 Be clear when they are making contact in a personal capacity or Member 
capacity by identifying their position – Mr/Mrs/Ms or Cllr. 

 

 Do not use council email addresses for personal business. 
 

 Do not conclude formal Council business and move into personal business. 
 

 Do not use Council meetings to raise personal matters unless the appropriate 
declarations have been made and the appropriate process is followed in 
removing from the decision making process and leaving the meeting at the 
appropriate time (see below under Declarations). 

 

 Do not access private parts of the Council to raise your personal concerns unless 
by way of appointment when the purpose and your role will have been clearly 
determined. 

 
Members and Social Media 
 
It is recognised that social media can provide many opportunities for Members to engage 
with the public. However, if not properly managed, such opportunities can result in 
complaints from the public, partner organisations and other Members.  
 
Members should consider whether they need to set appropriate privacy settings for any 
blog or networking site – especially if it is a private, non-political blog or have separate 
accounts for personal and professional capacities, although it should be remembered that 
in reality nothing is private on social media as other connections may re-post any comments 
or images. 
 
Members must also be careful about any connection with service users who are vulnerable 
adults or children, as this could be regarded as a safeguarding issue. 
 

Page 17



 

When using social media, Members must; 
 

 Ensure they use council facilities appropriately and comply with the Council’s ICT 
policies 

 

 Be aware that by publishing information that they could not have accessed 
without their position as a councillor, they will be seen as acting in their official 
capacity 

 

 Be careful about being too specific or personal if referring to individuals that may 
identify individuals or cause offence 

 

 Be aware that the libel laws cover blogs, social media and other forms of digital 
content publication.  

 

 Not place images or text on their site from a copyrighted source (for example 
extracts from publications or photos) without permission  

 

 Monitor accounts for defamatory, untrue or obscene posts from others and 
remove them as soon as possible to avoid the perception that they condone such 
views 

 

 Refer in a blog or other social media platform to any information identified by the 
Council as confidential or exempt;  

 

 Disclose information given to them in confidence by anyone or information 
acquired by them which they believe or are aware is of a confidential nature;  

 

 Publish personal data of individuals except with express written permission to do 
so 

 

 Give the impression that they are expressing the views of the Council where it is 
not appropriate or there is no authority to do so 

 

 If involved in determining planning or licensing applications or other quasi-judicial 
decisions, publish anything on their blog that might suggest they do not have an 
open mind about a matter they are involved in determining  

 

 
Close Personal Relationships Between Members   

 

It is possible that there may be close relationships between Members from time to time, 
which may include; 
 

 Spouses or partners 

 Familial connections (brother/sister/father/daughter) 

 Long standing friendships outside of council business 

 Employment connection (one employs the other) 
 

Page 18



 

Members must consider the possibility of how such connections may be viewed by the 
public when Members are discharging their council functions or involved in decision making 
and how they may reduce any perception of undue influence arising from this close 
relationship, such as avoiding being on the same Committee. 
 
Information provided to one Member to legitimately discharge their council functions must 
not be shared with a Member with a close personal connection for the reasons set out in 
this Code under Confidential Information and in the Members’ Protocol on Data Protection. 
 
 
Registration and Disclosure of Interests 
 
The Act further provides for registration and disclosure of interests and in Boston Borough 
Council this will be done as follows:  
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
On taking up office a Member or co-opted member must, within 28 days of becoming such, 
notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’, as prescribed by the 
Secretary of State. 
 
On re-election or re-appointment, a Member or co-opted member must, within 28 days, 
notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’ not already included in 
his or her register of interests. 
 
If a Member or co-opted member is aware that they have a ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ 
in a matter they must formally declare that interest in meetings, withdraw from the meeting 
while any discussion or vote on any matter relating to it takes place, taking no part in the 
debate or vote, except that they may take part in any public speaking scheme at the 
meeting, but must leave the room immediately after having so participated. 
 
If a Member or co-opted member is aware of a ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ in a matter 
under consideration at a meeting, but such interest is not already on the Council’s register 
of interests or in the process of entry onto the register having been notified to the 
Monitoring Officer, the member or co-opted member must disclose the ‘disclosable 
pecuniary interest’ to the meeting and register it within 28 days of the meeting at which it is 
first disclosed.  
 
 Local Choice Interests  
 
Members must register with the Democratic Services Manager details of any body of which 
they are a member or in a position of general control or management either:- 
 
 (1) exercising functions of a public nature; or 
 (2) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(3) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 
policy (including any political party or trade union) 

 
(Registration is to be made via a form provided by Democratic Services which will be 
published on the Council’s website and be open for public inspection) 
 

Page 19



 

Conflict of Interests  
 
At a meeting, Members must declare any interest which they have in any matter to be 
considered at that meeting. 
 
A conflict of interest arises where a Member, a close associate, immediate family, firm, 
organisation or employer has an interest in a matter which is the same as, connected to or 
may be affected by the matter under discussion. 
 
Members who have a conflict of interest may be present to make representations, answer 
queries and provide supporting evidence, but should leave the room at the point the 
meeting moves to reach its decision.  Their leaving the room should be recorded in the 
minutes. 
 
Where a Member, a close associate, immediate family, firm, organisation or employer has 
an interest in the matter being discussed which a member of the public who knew of the 
facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice the Members 
judgement of the Council’s interest in the matter, then they must declare the interest at the 
start of the agenda item, must not vote on the matter and must leave the room until the 
agenda item has been concluded.  However, nothing shall preclude a Member from acting 
as a member of the public and addressing the meeting as part of the Council’s public 
speaking scheme, but they must then leave the room after having so participated.  
 
If any Member fails to declare a conflict of interest they may be subject to allegations of 
improper conduct.  

 

Registration of Gifts and Hospitality 
 
Members must register in the Register of Members Gifts and Hospitality, held by the 
Democratic Services Manager, any gift or hospitality worth £5 or over received (or offered), 
in connection with their official duties as a member and the source of that gift or hospitality 
(or offer) within 28 days of receiving it. This will create greater transparency to the public in 
how Members discharge their decision making functions. 
 
In line with the Officer Code of Conduct, gifts over this value must be donated to the 
Mayor’s Charity. 
 
Acceptance by Members of hospitality through attendance at relevant conferences and 
courses is acceptable where it is clear the hospitality is corporate rather than personal and 
where the Member is satisfied that any purchasing decisions will not be compromised. 
 
Members Obligations to Understand the Requirements of this Code of Conduct 
 
The Council will provide opportunities for training and Member development through the 
Councillor Development Group. 
 
If a Member does not understand the meaning of the requirements of this Code of Conduct, 
it is their personal responsibility to raise directly with the Monitoring Officer, their Group 
Leader or Chairman of the Councillor Development Group to ensure the appropriate 
training is identified and offered. 

 

Page 20



 

 

 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Corporate Peer Challenge 
Boston Borough Council  

 

10 – 12 September 2019  

 
Feedback Report  
 

 

 

APPENDIX 2

Page 21



 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk     

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

1 

 

 

1. Executive Summary  
 
Boston Borough Council (Boston BC) has accomplished a great deal in challenging financial 
circumstances and alongside significant population growth.  It can be proud of its achievements 
and should have the confidence to shout loudly about them. 
 
Boston possesses strong geographic advantages – it is the second largest urban centre in 
Lincolnshire, and has only one main town within its boundaries.  By recognising this, and 
embedding it within its corporate narrative, Boston BC can positively shape perceptions of the 
Borough and take a more prominent role in shaping leadership of place, locally and sub-regionally. 
 
Boston’s rich historical, cultural and social heritage provides the foundations for a powerful and 
inclusive identity of place.  The Council and its partners recognise this and have made it a central 
plank of its town centre renewal plans and Heritage Strategy.  This place narrative needs to be 
more fully articulated and widely communicated, so it is shared and owned by Councillors, staff, 
communities and partners.  
 
The new Leader has brought fresh energy, ambition and a collaborative approach to the Council.  
This has been widely recognised and welcomed both internally and externally by partners.  With all 
Councillors at the start of a new four-year term, investment in member development is important.  
Supporting the new Cabinet to develop a clear, strategic, political vision, articulated through a new 
Corporate Plan, will strengthen political and managerial leadership.  Additionally, frontline 
Councillors must be equipped - through a learning and development programme - with the 
understanding and skills to be effective community champions and ambassadors for the Council, 
the Borough and all its communities. 
 
There is a strong, highly regarded officer team.  Through visible and enabling leadership they have 
positioned the Council well (e.g. financially sound, highly regarded by partners) and are ready to 
support the new administration to deliver its ambitions.  Boston BC is seen by partners as having a 
strong track record of delivery and is described by some as ‘by far the best local authority partner’ 
to work with in Lincolnshire.  Its success at securing external funding and working collaboratively 
with partners to deliver greater value (e.g. Quadrant, Inclusive Boston, PE21 proposals) is a 
particular strength. There is genuine desire from public, private and voluntary community sector 
(VCS) partners to work more closely with the Council.  This is particularly focused on the re-
purposing of the town centre, exploiting the considerable heritage assets and the historic Pilgrim 
Fathers connection.  Boston BC should maximise these collaborative opportunities to leverage 
additional capacity and deliver improved outcomes.   
 
It is an exciting and pivotal moment for Boston BC at the start of a new electoral cycle, with a new 
Leader and Cabinet.  It can capitalise upon this by setting a clear strategic direction, and aligning 
appropriate resources and capacity.  This will provide a solid framework through which to deliver 
the administration’s ambitions.  It should seize the opportunity to align the new Corporate Plan, 
Transformation Plan, Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and growth agenda.  Accelerating 
the pace of its Transformation Plan and digital thinking are also important.  This will unlock 
efficiencies, drive service improvement and allow Boston BC to be bold in pursuing its growth 
ambitions.  To do this effectively, greater strategic coordination, and consistency of practice will be 
required across the full range of Council activity.  Additional capacity in critical areas - such as 
economic growth, communications and human resources - will be also key to achieving its 
aspirations and having maximum impact. 
 

Page 22

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

2 

Boston has huge potential.  The Council has been the catalyst for much of the economic 
development and housing growth within the Borough.  It has achieved this with modest resources.  
The prospect of leveraging in up to £25 million Towns Funding is a tremendous opportunity to 
realise the Leader’s town centre growth ambitions.  To do so, Boston must seize the moment, but 
also effectively focus, prioritise and align resources.  It is not possible to do everything; political 
choices will be required to translate the fantastic opportunities it has created into delivery and 
impact.   
 
 

2. Key recommendations  
 
There are a range of suggestions and observations within the main section of the report that will 
inform some ‘quick wins’ and practical actions, in addition to the conversations onsite, many of 
which provided ideas and examples of practice are included from other organisations.  The 
following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the Council: 
 

• Talk up Boston!  Promoting the Borough more extensively and assertively would help to 
shape public perceptions to reflect your achievements and aspirations. 
 

• Define and communicate Boston’s brand and share it consistently and widely. This 
will embed and promote a positive place identify that the local community, businesses and 
partners can coalesce behind.    

 
• Take advice from the LGA Communications Improvement team. External guidance and 

advice can help match the communications service to the needs and ambitions of the 
Council.  

 
• Invest in development of the administration to deliver more effective political 

leadership (i.e. external facilitated Cabinet vision and priority setting). This investment 
will support the Cabinet to perform their strategic leadership role, establish clear priorities, 
and ensure this vision is reflected in the Corporate Plan and associated strategies.  

 
• Realise this vision through allocating the right resources to support the new 

Corporate Plan (specifically the growth agenda) and link this to the MTFS and 
Transformation Plan.   This will ensure the Council’s priorities as set out in the new 
Corporate Plan and other key strategies are aligned with the resources needed to deliver 
them. 

 
• Develop a bold investment plan and explore innovative delivery models to support 

the PE21 project.  By securing a delivery model that provides a long term income stream 
this will support the Council’s long term financial sustainability.    

 
• Use systematic customer insight to ensure services are responsive to community 

and customer needs. Establishing an objective view of resident satisfaction will enable 
Boston BC to better target its activities and drive customer-centred service improvement.    

 
• Broader member development to support community leadership and effective 

representation.  This will support frontline Councillors to be effective community 
champions and ambassadors for the authority, the Borough and all its communities. 

 

Page 23

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

3 

• Refresh the workforce strategy, and consider building on LGA workforce strategy 
themes.  By using best practice guidance, Boston BC can align the refreshed Workforce 
Development Strategy to the new Corporate Plan priorities and Transformation Programme 
and future planning.  

 
• Broaden the scope and understanding of transformation to address the issues of 

service redesign, digital thinking, efficiency, and commercialisation.  This will facilitate 
a step change in Boston BC’s overall pace of delivery and achievement of outcomes.  

 
• Harness capacity and willingness of local residents, community groups and 

businesses to ‘live’ and promote brand Boston. In doing so, Boston BC can leverage in 
additional capacity and resources to maximise added value from collaboration.  

 
 

3. Summary of the Peer Challenge approach  
 

The peer team  
 
Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers.  The make-
up of the peer team reflected your requirements and the focus of the peer challenge.  Peers 
were selected on the basis of their relevant experience and expertise and agreed with you.  
The peers who delivered the peer challenge at Boston Borough Council were: 
 

 Steve Blatch, North Norfolk District Council, Corporate Director & Head of Paid Service  

 Councillor Duncan McGinty, Leader of Sedgemoor District Council   

 Councillor Neil Prior, Pembrokeshire County Council, Cabinet Member for Transformation 
and IT 

 Jackie Smith, South Staffordshire District Council, Corporate Director - Commercial 

 Donna Reddish, Chesterfield Borough Council, Assistant Director Policy and 
Communications 

 Frances Marshall, Local Government Association, Challenge Manager 
 

Scope and focus 
 
The peer team considered the following five questions which form the core components looked 
at by all Corporate Peer Challenges cover.  These are the areas we believe are critical to 
Councils’ performance and improvement:   
 

1. Understanding of the local place and priority setting: Does the Council understand its 
local context and place and use that to inform a clear vision and set of priorities? 
 

2. Leadership of Place: Does the Council provide effective leadership of place through its 
elected members, officers and constructive relationships and partnerships with external 
stakeholders? 
 

3. Organisational leadership and governance: Is there effective political and managerial 
leadership supported by good governance and decision-making arrangements that 
respond to key challenges and enable change and transformation to be implemented? 
 

Page 24

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

4 

4. Financial planning and viability: Does the Council have a financial plan in place to 
ensure long term viability and is there evidence that it is being implemented 
successfully? 
 

5. Capacity to deliver: Is organisational capacity aligned with priorities and does the 
Council influence, enable and leverage external capacity to focus on agreed outcomes? 

 
In addition to these questions, you asked the peer team to consider/review/provide feedback on: 
economic development and town centre regeneration; transformation and corporate strategy 
and planning.  
 
 
The peer challenge process 
 
It is important to stress that this was not an inspection.  Peer challenges are improvement focussed 
and tailored to meet individual Councils’ needs.  They are designed to complement and add value 
to a Council’s own performance and improvement.  The process is not designed to provide an in-
depth or technical assessment of plans and proposals.  The peer team used their experience and 
knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by people they met, 
things they saw and material that they read.  
  
The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all Councils 
will have a Corporate Peer Challenge every 4 to 5 years.  Boston Borough Council had a 
Corporate Peer Challenge in 2012.  Where relevant to do so, findings from that previous peer 
challenge have been referenced in this report.   
 
The peer team prepared for the peer challenge by reviewing a range of documents and 
information in order to ensure they were familiar with the Council and the challenges it is facing.  
The team then spent 3 days onsite at Boston Borough Council, during which they: 
 

 Spoke to more than 114 people including a range of Council staff together with 
Councillors and external partners and stakeholders. 

 

 Gathered information and views from more than 39 meetings, visits to key sites in the 
area and additional research and reading. 
 

 Collectively spent more than 270 hours to determine their findings – the equivalent of 
one person spending more than 7 weeks in Boston.   
 

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings.  It builds on the feedback 
presentation provided by the peer team at the end of their on-site visit (10 – 12 September 
2019).  In presenting feedback to you, they have done so as fellow local government officers 
and members, not professional consultants or inspectors.  By its nature, the peer challenge is a 
snapshot in time.  We appreciate that some of the feedback may be about things you are 
already addressing and progressing. 
  

Page 25

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

5 

 

4. Feedback  

 
 
4.1 Understanding of the local place and priority setting  

 
Boston Borough’s geography, scale and critical size are key assets that can be exploited to its 
advantage.  Boston is the second largest town in Lincolnshire, and the Borough has only one urban 
centre.  Together with its rich historical, cultural and social heritage this provides a compelling 
narrative to anchor its place identity.  The Council’s sole office base, being centrally located in the 
town, provides a single focus for services and investment.  This, in addition to the variety of 
services and amenities within the town, means that the community can meet the majority of its 
needs without looking beyond Boston BC’s borders.  These strengths are currently not recognised 
or utilised fully.  Identifying as a ‘small Council’ risks underselling the locality, its achievements and 
aspiration.  By recognising the aforementioned strengths, and embedding them within its corporate 
narrative, Boston can positively shape perceptions of the Borough by developing a compelling story 
of place that supports their ambitions for growth and community prosperity.  
 
The Leader’s aspirations for growth as a means of driving Borough-wide prosperity is widely 
recognised and supported by partners, staff and many frontline Councillors.  There is huge 
potential in ‘brand Boston’.  The brand is developing, particularly around the economic growth 
agenda, with the ‘VisitBostonUK’ and ‘ThinkBoston’ websites recognised as effective 
promotional tools for the area, which could be more effective if content is regularly updated and 
shared through social media channels. More needs to be done however to develop a shared 
understanding of Boston’s unique selling points (USP) and communicate them widely.  Attention 
should be given to translating the new administration’s ambitions into a clear vision and 
priorities, with ownership by Cabinet and buy-in from other members.  It is not possible to do 
everything, so this will require a strategic approach, effective prioritisation and difficult decisions 
such as de-prioritisation or delivering some services differently.  The new Corporate Plan and its 
promotion will be central to achieving the Council’s aspirations.  
 
There is limited evidence that the current Corporate Plan priorities are embedded throughout 
the organisation (i.e. no golden thread in service plans/strategies). The Council are however 
working hard to engage members, staff and the community in development of the new 
Corporate Plan (e.g. online consultation, workshops).  There is a collective view that the new 
Corporate Plan should be a place shaping tool as well as prioritising activities, investment and 
resources for the Council.  Its development would be strengthened by considering a broader 
evidence base including national, regional and local data sets (e.g. IMD, health profiles, 
demographic information/projections and customer insight). Horizon scanning activity to future 
proof the Plan over its four year term and beyond is also important.  Careful consideration 
should be given to aligning service planning activity, the MTFS and the Performance 
Management Framework.  This is important to monitor and manage performance, but also to 
demonstrate success to a wider audience.  Communicating this corporate narrative widely - and 
consistently - with residents, businesses, customers, partners, Councillors and staff will be 
essential for Boston to achieve its ambitions.  
 

Strong external communication is recognised as a key engagement tool, however the current size 
and focus of the Council’s Communications Team does not match the scale of the Council’s 
aspirations or potential.  This is limiting Boston BC’s ability to get its voice heard within the wider 
populace.  Reviewing the communications service configuration and practice should be a priority.  
The focus should be on developing stronger, more resilient and pro-active communications which 

Page 26

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

6 

can take advantage of the Borough’s strengths. This will provide solid foundations with which to 
better protect and enhance the Borough’s reputation and brand as a destination of regional, 
national and international significance.   
 
Boston has experienced unprecedented population growth and demographic change – it is one 
of the fastest growing areas outside London and the South East.  It has managed these 
pressures, compounded by dwindling public finances, exceptionally well.  The officer team 
knows Boston Borough’s unique local context, its diverse communities and the complexity of 
their needs (e.g. engaged with a wide variety of VCS organisations around social inclusion, 
described as “understanding their community”).  It works actively with partners to add greater 
value and improve outcomes. Community and partnership engagement is a strength, with 
notable examples around community cohesion, inclusion, local democracy, skills development 
and collaborative funding bids (e.g. Inclusive Boston, Local Democracy Week, Primary Engineer 
Programme, Boston College, Schools, Quadrant).  Councillors in their capacity as community 
champions have an important role to play in recognising and representing their diverse 
communities.  This is particularly important given the uncertainty surrounding the UK’s 
membership of the European Union (EU) and impact this uncertainty may have on individuals 
and businesses within the Borough. Steps should be taken to equip frontline Councillors - 
through a learning and development programme - with the understanding and skills to more 
actively fulfil their role and engage with the whole community.  A more coordinated and 
systematic use of customer insight, intelligence and feedback should be employed.  This would 
enable members and officers to have more in-depth oversight of the residents’ views and 
issues.  Equipped with a greater understanding of customer needs and more accurate 
information on how residents view the Council, Boston BC will be able to more effectively shape 
priorities and actions accordingly.   

 
 

4.2 Leadership of Place 
 
Externally Boston BC is seen as a valued, proactive partner, with a good track record of delivery.  It 
is described as having a “can do attitude” and “being a force for good”.  This positive view is shared 
by public, private and VCS organisations and reflected across the breadth of Council services.  Its 
collaborative, strategic and proactive approach has delivered substantial successes.  Key 
examples include: promoting community cohesion through Inclusive Boston; housing delivery 
(Quadrant); and through the Primary Engineer programme focusing the local education curriculum 
on local engineering employers’ skills needs and developing highly skilled jobs.  Boston BC has 
successfully secured external funding, and translated this into delivery (e.g. Housing Investment 
Funding (HIF), Controlling Migration Funding, Towns Fund and Rough Sleeper funding).  It has 
therefore been able to meet community needs and sustain service levels despite significant 
reductions in government funding.  Consideration should now be given to sustaining the community 
benefits of Inclusive Boston once Government funding ceases.  
 
Boston BC’s ability to respond to the social, economic and environmental challenges facing its 
communities - effectively and at pace - is a key strength.  Residents and partners recognise and 
praise the critical role the Council played in responding to the closure of local employers (Fogarty’s, 
NorPrint, Marks & Spencer), the flooding in 2013 and tackling rough sleeping.  In doing so the 
Council has demonstrated powerful community leadership.  This ability to be responsive, and 
successfully deliver multi-partnership working, will be valuable in managing any local impacts 
relating to uncertainty around and changes to the UK’s membership of the European Union.    
 

Page 27

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

7 

Boston takes an active role sub-regionally to promote and deliver shared agendas with Council 
partners (e.g. leading on joint Lincolnshire Waste Partnership, adopting a South East 
Lincolnshire wide Local Plan, providing flood response support etc.)  Consideration should be 
given to how Boston leverages its geographical position, population size and growth aspirations 
to establish a stronger leadership role at a local and sub-regional level.  Given its critical size, it 
can have confidence in doing so.  Fostering closer relationships with Lincolnshire County 
Council (LCC) and the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) would be a first 
step to achieving this. With several Borough Councillors also holding seats on LCC – including 
the Leader - Boston can seek to maximise these links to collectively speak with one voice in 
advocating for Boston’s interests.   
 
The relationships developed around the growth agenda are particularly strong, with developers 
describing Boston BC as their local authority ‘partner of choice’. Its “pragmatic” and “enabling” 
approach translates into timely delivery on the ground (e.g. HIF, Quadrant, Lincolnshire 2050).  
There is genuine excitement amongst partners about the Council’s ambition for town centre 
renewal and they desire to be an active part of it.  They recognise the potential of the PE21 
initiative and the Heritage Strategy to positively shape perceptions of the Borough and drive up 
footfall and tourist visitors to the town.  Boston should harness the capacity and willingness of 
local residents, community groups and businesses to share learning, risk and resources. To 
maximise outcomes this should be across all shared opportunities, not just the growth agenda.   
Suggestions include: events programmes with community wide ownership and promotion; 
maximising the value of Boston Town Area Committee; and a business engagement forum that 
is Borough wide.   

 
 
4.3 Organisational leadership and governance 

 
The new Leader has brought energy, enthusiasm and a collaborative approach, while leading 
from the front (e.g. staff briefings, visibly leading the growth agenda, and cross party 
engagement).  This has engendered tangible goodwill towards the new administration, with staff 
and many Councillors enthused by his ambition for Boston and willingness to engage.  The 
focus should now be on clearly defining the political vision, through an adopted Corporate Plan, 
to capitalise on the momentum and to strengthen political and managerial Leadership.  Having a 
clearly defined agreed set of strategic priorities, which is collectively owned by Cabinet, will 
enable resources to be aligned to deliver the vision.  Without this political prioritisation and 
shared ownership, Boston risks trying to do too much and spreading resources too thinly.  
Externally facilitated support would assist the Cabinet to develop this shared vision and prioritise 
the activities that will underpin its delivery. In developing a shared vision, this would also help 
balance a currently disproportionate amount of time that is spent on responding to a vocal 
minority who comment negatively on social media platforms compared to the Council delivering 
for the wider community and promoting the Borough positively as a place to live, visit and invest. 
 
The Council’s established scrutiny function works well and is widely seen as constructive and 
adding value to policy development.  Innovative scrutiny approaches, such as enquiry days, 
member briefings and task and finish groups have proved popular and effective ways to 
examine relevant issues (e.g. Lincolnshire Waste Management Strategy, rural isolation, markets 
review).  There is a genuine desire from the new administration to use the Cabinet and Scrutiny 
governance model to best effect and to provide external challenge.  
 
 

Page 28

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

8 

Boston BC is committed to Councillor development, with a comprehensive induction programme, 
online resources and a Councillor group shaping this activity.  Take-up of learning and 
development opportunities post the May 2019 elections has however been low.  Going forward, it 
will be important to revisit the annual programme of member development and tailor the offer so as 
to encourage greater Councillor participation.  All Councillors need to take personal responsibility 
for attendance at mandatory training and in ensuring that they keep up to date with their 
obligations, relevant legislation and council practices.  
 
With the entire Councillor body being at the start of its four-year term, now is the time for further 
investment in supporting frontline Councillors, as well as those in leadership roles.  A new Cabinet, 
with refreshed Portfolio responsibilities, can take advantage of learning and development 
opportunities which will assist them to channel their energy more effectively and successfully 
perform their strategic leadership role (e.g. LGA and East Midlands Councils training).  Greater 
consistency in Portfolio Holder and Lead Officer engagement would also strengthen this.   
 
Frontline Councillors should be supported not only in their community leadership positions but also 
to act as ambassadors for the authority and wider Borough.  Currently Councillors’ role in 
portraying a positive image of the Council and place does not appear to be fully understood (e.g. 
social media behaviour).  The Member Code of Conduct is an important tool in promoting this 
understanding.  Agreeing and adopting a refreshed Member Code of Conduct should be 
progressed as a matter of priority.  
 
There is a positive organisational culture, reflected by a staff body that are passionate and 
proud to work for Boston BC.  Healthy member and officer relations are evident, reflected by the 
positive working relationship between the Leader, Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive.  
Senior management are ready to support the administration’s ambitions.  This joint working 
could be further strengthened through the proposed clarification of the future vision and focus.   
 
Boston BC’s workforce are an important asset, which partners readily praise as “intelligent and 
responsive” (e.g. highly regarded externally, positive staff survey results).  The Corporate 
Management Team (CMT) is cohesive, experienced, and held in high regard by both staff and 
Councillors.  The Senior Management Team (SMT) is empowered by CMT, demonstrate 
collaborative working and are seen as supportive leaders by staff.  Whilst staff briefings are 
welcomed as an effective means of communication, greater visibility of CMT and Cabinet would 
be welcomed by staff to better understand the pressures they face and their responsibilities.  
This more in-depth understanding would help inform resourcing decisions.  
 

 

5. Financial planning and viability 
 
Boston BC has faced acute financial challenges with reducing government grants and 
significant population growth (e.g. the most recent census showing a conservative 15.8 per cent 
increase in population; £2.5 million saving from net revenue budget in the period to 2020 due to 
withdrawal of government grant).  It has managed these financial pressures well to date, and 
has a solid financial position (e.g. underspend contributing to reserves to plan for further 
challenges, Property Investment Fund to support future capital investment).   
 
Sound, prudent, financial governance is evident by well-structured budget reports, an annually 
reviewed and scrutinised Medium Term Financial Strategy and successive unqualified audits.  
There is also a strong record of success in securing grant bids to support delivery whilst 
maintaining a balanced budget. (See understanding of the local place and priority setting).   

Page 29

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

9 

 
With a £1 million budgetary saving to be made by 2023/24 - £538k of which is to come from 
2020/21 - Boston BC has developed a proactive multipronged approach to close this funding 
gap in its Transformation Programme (e.g. income generation, service modernisation, 
commercialisation and policy changes). Further detailed work to achieve the ‘savings targets’ 
set out in the new Transformation Strategy will be important to ensure the deliverability of these 
savings.    
 
Whilst there is an emerging bottom up approach to commercialisation, with staff supported to 
explore ideas to increase income (e.g. Guildhall), there is scope to strengthen this.  Establishing 
a shared understanding of what commercialism means for Boston BC would encourage the 
generation of new proposals and provide a framework for identifying whether they fit with 
Boston’s risk appetite. Additionally, assessment of fees and charges should be informed by 
contextual information and knowledge of the true cost of delivery (e.g. car parks). 
 
There is clarity around the Council’s £20million Property Investment Fund generating income to 
finance the future capital programme, reflecting a focus on long term financial sustainability (e.g. 
investment determined by greatest return).  The Council would however benefit from a clear 
longer term approach to the use of its land and property assets.  The development of a detailed 
Capital Strategy and Asset Management Plan would support a strategic approach to maximising 
the value of these assets.   
 
Boston BC’s approach to financial management has been consciously prudent and “steady as 
you go” (e.g. reserves for contingencies, external auditors’ views on cautious approach to 
business rate appeals.)  The £25 million Towns Fund, and PE21 investment, open up the 
opportunity for the Council to be bolder going forward.  Boston BC will need to examine its 
appetite for risk to assess if its cautious approach remains appropriate to realise its growth 
ambitions. One area in which this will be pertinent, is in its choice of PE21 delivery model.  It is 
recommended that Boston BC explore innovative delivery models/vehicles that gives the 
Council a stake in that development and supports Boston BC’s long term financial sustainability 
by providing an ongoing revenue funding stream.  Ensuring that the project is resourced at all 
stages will be paramount.  The financial sustainability of regeneration projects should be 
considered and evaluated through business cases at project inception to ensure that capacity to 
deliver is adequately evaluated.  As its growth plan takes shape, Boston BC may want to 
consider the benefits of ”in-Borough” investment as a demonstration of the returns that flow from 
its commitment to place. 
 
Boston BC’s achievements around the growth agenda – both economic development and 
housing - are significant.  It is the only Council in Lincolnshire to deliver housing growth above 
Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) targets and one of only a small number of Councils 
nationally to have successfully drawn down HIF funding through entering into a contract with 
Homes England (e.g. the Quadrant scheme including new road infrastructure, housing and 
commercial development and the new Boston United Community Stadium).  The Council’s 
proactive, visible and enabling officer leadership, is recognised and applauded by all partners 
(see Leadership of Place section).  These achievements are all the more impressive given 
current modest staffing resources in this area.  This level of resourcing is not sustainable in the 
future given Boston BC’s ambition. 
 
Addressing current levels of capacity is of utmost importance so as to not limit Boston BC’s 
ability to deliver its future plans (e.g. PE21, Pilgrims 2020 & 2030, attract inward investment 
etc.).  Identifying more resource – in-house or through partners – to engage and influence at a 

Page 30

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

10 

strategic level and support project delivery should be an immediate focus.  There are 
opportunities to harness and galvanise local partners that share Boston’s vision, so that they 
can also articulate and sell it (e.g. Boston College, businesses etc.).    
 
The PE21 proposals have great potential to create a vibrant mixed use community at the heart 
of Boston from a currently underutilised site (e.g. current consultation includes retail, housing, 
health, leisure etc.). The majority of frontline Councillors, and relevant Scrutiny Committee 
Members, support the proposition of broadening the economy through this place-shaping 
investment.  There is also genuine excitement amongst partners for this re-purposing of the 
town centre and exploiting the considerable heritage assets, historic Mayflower and Pilgrim 
Fathers connections.   Boston’s heritage assets are considerable and unique, yet currently 
underused. The Heritage Strategy recognises this and is an important step in ensuring that they 
form a key pillar of ‘brand Boston’ going forward.  Attention should now be focused on 
developing a coherent case to deliver these community wide ambitions through the £25 million 
Towns Fund.    

 
 

6. Capacity to deliver 
 
Boston BC has a skilled, flexible and adaptable workforce that are committed and motivated to 
deliver for Boston’s communities (e.g. recent staff survey 82% would recommend as a good 
employer, 92% enjoy their work, 80% sense of pride).  There are good employer and Trade 
Union relationships that are positive and mutually respectful (e.g. regular meetings, items raised 
and responded to).  Boston BC also capitalises on the advantages of being based in one 
building and co-located with key partners to maximize effective communications and agile 
working (e.g. cohesive management team, adaptable workforce, working across broad areas, 
close working with partners in real time.)   
 
Aligning the Workforce Development Strategy to the new Corporate Plan priorities and 
Transformation Programme will be critical to deliver against the new administration’s ambitions.  
Boston BC recognises the challenges it faces around recruitment and retention, particularly in key 
areas.  It seeks to employ innovative approaches to address these, including a successful policy to 
grow its own talent (e.g. apprenticeship programme which is highly regarded).  Alongside 
recruitment and retention, HR and organisational development should also be key tenets of Boston 
BC’s refreshed Workforce Development Strategy and prioritised accordingly.  This would help the 
Council respond to the skills market, pay issues, recruitment challenges and seek to build 
resilience.  Applying the appraisal process consistently, with a focus on helping managers’ develop 
softer skills (e.g. behaviours), will aid skills development and the organisation's ability to deliver. 
 
Boston BC effectively works with partners to leverage in resources and capacity to deliver jointly 
(e.g. Boston Clean Up, Boston Cemetery, Lincolnshire Assurance).  Despite this, there are 
questions about the Council’s ability to deliver on its ambitions.  This deficit in capacity is 
particularly acute in the areas of economic growth and communications.  The resilience of Human 
Resources (HR) could also be strengthened to support effective management of recruitment and 
performance issues and the consistent application of workforce development.  As a matter of 
priority Boston BC should realign and grow capacity to keep pace with the changing environment 
for local government and avoid organisational overstretch.  Responsibilities for new service areas 
and pressures have been absorbed within existing staffing, which is not considered sustainable in 
the medium-term.  Regularly reviewing capacity and resource to ensure they align with current 
priorities and address new pressures will provide Boston BC with a strong foundation through 
which it can realise its ambitions.  

Page 31

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

11 

 
There are good examples of joint working with other local Councils (e.g. parish councils, shared 
services on CCTV, procurement, community safety, payroll).  However, Boston BC would benefit 
from a strategy for shared services arrangements to ensure they are planned rather than 
opportunistic. There are untapped benefits to be gained – such as economies of scale, efficiencies, 
resilience, better service outcomes - from further engagement and more systematic joint working 
with neighbouring Councils and the VCS.   
 
Boston BC has successfully delivered against previous Transformation Plans (e.g. £2.5 million 
savings from current 4 year programme) and recognises the challenges of delivering a further 
£1 million savings from its 2020/24 programme. As it currently stands, the Transformation Plan 
operates as a savings plan, rather than a strategy that seeks to transform business process, 
unlock service efficiencies, release capacity and drive digital innovation.  To realise these wider 
benefits, there needs to be a clear and broader understanding internally of what Transformation 
is and greater comprehension of the possibilities of digital innovation.  This is currently a gap.  
Broadening the scope, and accelerating the pace, of its transformation and digital thinking will 
be essential to keep up with the changing external environment and delivering Boston BC’s 
ambitions.   
 
Time should be taken to establish this organisational wide understanding, along with clear 
ownership and active support from CMT and Cabinet.  This visible leadership will be key to setting 
the behaviours and culture that are integral to driving transformative change.   The new 
Transformation Plan has potential to enable a cultural change, and unlock staff potential, that 
would complement the new Leader’s emerging vision and contribute to capacity.   
 
The governance that sits around the programme will also be key. Effective oversight and 
challenge is not currently in place (e.g. project management not consistently applied).  
Establishing effective governance will provide the framework through which to drive forward and 
progress.  
 

 

7. Next steps  

 
Immediate next steps  
 
We appreciate the senior managerial and political leadership will want to reflect on these 
findings and suggestions in order to determine how the organisation wishes to take things 
forward.  
 
As part of the peer challenge process, there is an offer of further activity to support this. The 
LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice and guidance on a number of the areas 
for development and improvement and we would be happy to discuss this.  Mark Edgell, 
Principal Adviser is the main contact between your authority and the Local Government 
Association (LGA). His contact details are: Email Mark.Edgell@local.gov.uk.  
 
In the meantime we are keen to continue the relationship we have formed with the Council 
throughout the peer challenge.  We will endeavour to provide signposting to examples of 
practice and further information and guidance about the issues we have raised in this report to 
help inform ongoing consideration.  
 
 

Page 32

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.Edgell@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

12 

Follow up visit  
 
The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge process includes a follow up visit. The purpose of the visit 
is to help the Council assess the impact of the peer challenge and demonstrate the progress it 
has made against the areas of improvement and development identified by the peer team. It is a 
lighter-touch version of the original visit and does not necessarily involve all members of the 
original peer team. The timing of the visit is determined by the Council.  Our expectation is that it 
will occur within the next 2 years.  
 
Next Corporate Peer Challenge 
 
The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all Councils 
will have a Corporate Peer Challenge or Finance Peer Review every 4 to 5 years.  It is therefore 
anticipated that the Council will commission their next Peer Challenge before September 2024.   
 
 

Page 33

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk     Telephone 020 7664 3000     Email info@local.gov.uk      

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company 

number 03675577 

 

13 

Annex 1: Examples of good practice  

 
 

Approach to Scrutiny: Use of Inquiry Days 

 
Boston BC’s established scrutiny function which is focused on pre-decision scrutiny works well 
and is widely seen as constructive and adding value to policy development.  It utilises innovative 
scrutiny approaches, such as enquiry days, member briefings and task and finish groups to 
examine relevant issues (e.g. Lincolnshire Waste Management Strategy, rural isolation, markets 
review).  These have proved popular and effective ways providing effective challenge and 
contributing to policy development.   
  
Task and Finish Groups:  Overview and Scrutiny Committees are able to establish time-limited task 
and finish group reviews that focus on a particular issue and consider it in greater detail than is 
possible at committee meetings. These reviews will include a mixture of interviews with relevant 
officers, research of best practice, meetings with service users and community groups and 
consultation with wider parts of the community. 
  
All-Member Briefings: These are scheduled to take place regularly throughout the year for officers 
and guest speakers to impart information to Members on topical matters of interest. These briefings 
are informal and give Members the opportunity to ask any questions they may have and can initiate 
ideas for matters to be scrutinised. 
 
Inquiry Days: This is a relatively new way of working for the Council and involves Members and 
officers getting together informally in order for Members to receive full information and options on 
an issue and for officers to gauge Members’ opinions, before drafting a focussed report for 
consideration at the committee meeting.  These have been well received by members and officers, 
with meaningful outputs.   
  
  
Inclusive Boston 

 
In leading a £1.4 million Controlling Migration Fund Bid and chairing the Inclusive Boston Board, 
Boston BC has demonstrated a collaborative approach to managing migration issues.  As lead 
partner and accountable body, Boston secured resources to support a range of projects and 
activities that together will have a cumulative, lasting impact in mitigating some of the issues the 
Council, its partners and its existing and new population face as a direct consequence of migration. 
The four project themes are collective and cohesive and align closely with each other; where 
significant, extended, diverse provision is required - for example in terms of English Language and 
ESOL - Boston BC have a coordinated thread that runs through the programme. Chaired by the 
Head of Regulatory Services, the Inclusive Boston Board oversees delivery of the Controlling 
Migration Fund and reports directly to the Cabinet.  Boston BC have commissioned an independent 
evaluation of the programme which will report back at the end of the four year funding period, the 
learning from which could benefit other authorities.    

 
 

 

Page 34

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk

	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 REVIEW OF THE MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT
	Appendix 1 - Proposed revisions to the Members' Code of Conduct
	Appendix 2 - Peer Review Feedback Report


